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Que este libro, además de enseñar a las generaciones 
actuales cuál es su origen, sirva como un homenaje a nuestros 
antepasados que formaron la base de la presente sociedad 
bajacaliforniana.

Aquel que ignora de donde viene, 
difícilmente podrá saber adonde va.

Mi reconocimiento al Presidente Municipal de Ensenada, 
B. C. Norte, C. Adolfo Ramírez Méndez; y a las autoridades 
políticas y eclesiásticas de Baja California Sur, que con tan 
buena voluntad me dieron todas las facilidades para que tomara 
de sus archivos el material que forma el cuerpo de esta obra.

Pablo L. Martínez.
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ABREVIATURAS
ABBREVIATIONS

Abs. Mats.= abuelos maternos = maternal grandparents.
Abs. Pats. = abuelos paternos = paternal grandparents.
ant. = anterior = last.
b. = bautizado-a = baptized.
B. C. Sur = Baja California Sur = Southern Lower California.
B. C. Norte = Baja California Norte = Northern Lower California.
c. = casado_a = married.
El = el novio = the bridegroom.
Ella = la novia = the bride.
f. = fallecido-a = died.
h. = hijo_a = child.
h. 1. = hijo-a legítimo-a = legitimate child.
Ma. = María = Mary.
n. = nacido_a = born.
nat. de = natural de = a native of.
orig. de = originario-a de = a native of.
ppdo. =próximo pasado = last.
reg. = registrado-a = registered.
solt. = soltero-a = a single.
Sto.-a = Santo-a = Saint.
v. de = vecino-a de = a neighbor of.
vdo.-a = viudo-a = widow-widower.

English speaking people must study carefully, too, the folowing expressions, so that they 
may be able to understand 95 % of  the contents of  this book.

ambos = both.
célibe = single.
del mes ppdo. = of  the last month.
de 28 años = 28 years old.
de dicho mes, año = of  the said month, year.
del mismo mes = of  the very month.
de 1 año, 2 meses de n. = born 1 year, 2 months before.
de 15 días de n. = born 15 days before.



de 3 meses de n. = born 3 months before.
difunto_a = dead.
Ene., Feb., Mar., etc., ant. = last Jan., Feb., Mar., etc.
n. el mismo día = born on the very day
n. 6 días antes = born 6 days before.
n. el día ant. = born yesterday.
n. el 15 de May. ppdo. = born on last May 15.
n. el 18 de Jun. último. = born on last Jun 18.
último = last.

THREE EXTRACTED RECORDS

Marriage.— Antonio Aguilar y Sabina Barrera, c. el 26 de feb. de 1893. Él, de 30 años, 
solt., orig. de Mulegé, jornalero, h. del finado Rafael Aguilar y Luisa León, que reside en 
Ensenada de Todos Santos, pero que es nat. de Comondú; ella, de 22 años, célibe, nat. del 
rancho Santa Cruz, h. de Patricio Barrera y Martina Mora, difunta.

Translation.— Antonio Aguilar and Sabina Barrera, married on Feb. 26, 1893. He (the 
bridegroom), single, a fieldhand, a native of  Mulege, son of  Rafael Aguilar, already dead, and 
Luisa Leon, who resides at Ensenada de Todos Santos, but a native of  Comondu; she (the 
brider 22 years old, a single, a native of  Santa Cruz Ranch, the daughter of  Patricio Barrera 
and Martina Mora, the latter already dead.

Baptism.— José Timoteo Olachea, b. el 3 de sept. de 1845, n. el 23 de agosto. ppdo., h. 
l. de Santiago Olachea y Antonia Domínguez. Abs. Pats. Agustín Olachea y Rosalía Flores; 
Abs. Mats. Albino Domínguez y Gertrudis Núñez.

Translation.— Jose Timoteo Olachea, baptized on Sept. 3, 1845, a legitimate son of  
Santiago Olachea and Antonia Domínguez. Paternal grandparents, Agustin Olachea and 
Rosalia Flores; maternal grandparents, Albino Dominguez and Gertrudis Nuñez.

Defunction.— Antonio Mayoral, f. el 15 de oct. de 1874, h. l. de Raymundo Mayoral y 
Alvara Marrón. Era casado con Jesús Romero.

Translation.— Antonio Mayoral, dead on Oct. 15, 1874, the legitimate son of  
Rayrnundo Mayoral and Alvara Marron. He was married to Jesus Romero.



INTRODUCCIÓN

EL POR QUE DE ESTE LIBRO

Cuando escribí la Historia de Baja California cité en sus páginas a numerosas per-
sonas que habían actuado en diferentes épocas en la península; y después de referir 
la intervención que tuvieron en los hechos del pasado, en muchos casos me quedé sin 
saber quiénes eran tales personajes, es decir, ignorando su procedencia y origen fami-
liar. Por esta razón, después de terminada dicha obra, me dediqué a localizar los ar-
chivos peninsulares para ver si podía satisfacer mis deseos sobre el asunto. Andando 
en esto, grande fue mi alarma al darme cuenta de que los archivos parroquiales, al 
igual que los del gobierno, se encuentran en buena parte destrozados por 1a acción 
del tiempo, los primeros, y por eso mismo y por el descuido humano los segundos, 
amenazados de desaparición completa si no se hace algo para conservar siquiera lo 
existente, aunque esto no sea en la forma original sino por medio de la letra impresa.

De ahí nació mí propósito de confeccionar este trabajo. En él he vertido las 
informaciones que contienen los archivos eclesiásticos y del Registro Civil u oficiales. 
He procurado seleccionar todas las familias que me son conocidas o sea la mayoría 
de las pobladoras de Baja California; y de las no muy conocidas he tomado unas y 
otras no. En una palabra: este libro tiene por objeto dar a conocer y al mismo tiem-
po preservar los datos familiares de los siglos XVIII y XIX, con fines genealógicos 
y biográficos.

He laborado varios años y la cosecha ha sido copiosa, y lo sería aún más si, como 
antes he dicho, los registros se hallaran todos intactos y legibles. La mayor parte de los 
correspondientes al siglo XVIII faltan o de ellos quedan pequeños fragmentos, pero 
hay suficientes del siglo XIX, aunque también incompletos. Estoy seguro, sin embargo, 
de que el material coleccionado, y aquí inserto, es suficiente para dar una idea cabal de 
cómo se inició la sociedad bajacaliforniana a partir de la conquista, a fines de la XVII 
centuria, y cómo evolucionó hasta las postrimerías de la XIX. Entrar al presente siglo 
será motivo de un segundo tomo. Lo importante de momento es, a mi juicio, establecer 
las raíces del pueblo peninsular y salvar lo que los viejos registros exhiben, antes de que 
estos acaben de destruirse.
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FENÓMENOS SOCIOLÓGICOS SUI GENERIS EN 
BAJA CALIFORNIA:

La investigación realizada me ha sugerido algunas conclusiones de tipo socio-
lógico. Entre otras y muy principalmente, la de que en esta tierra no hubo mestizaje 
durante la colonia, como en la inmensa mayoría de los territorios ocupados por 
España en América. El hombre blanco no mezcló su sangre con la raza autóctona, 
sino por excepción. En primer lugar, la cabeza conquistadora no fue, un militar, fue 
un sacerdote y este, por serlo, mantenía las reglas de la abstinencia, por voto efectivo 
de castidad. El sacerdote conquistador no dejó, tampoco que los hombres de armas 
a sus órdenes se aprovecharan de las mujeres indígenas, como lo hizo la soldadesca 
de Hernán Cortés y otros conquistadores. El soldado que llegaba a Baja California 
soltero, era enviado inmediatamente a Sonora o Sinaloa a buscar mujer criolla en 
los centros misionales de aquellas regiones; de modo que ningún militar permanecía 
aquí por mucho tiempo célibe. El mestizaje, en mi opinión, comenzó a verse en Baja 
California en amplia proporción después de la independencia, cuando el elemento 
indígena de la parte continental tuvo oportunidad de moverse con cierta libertad de 
tránsito, de acuerdo con las nuevas leyes, y así pudo inmigrar en la península.

La población española y criolla se desarrolló en la tierra con extrema lentitud 
y en cantidades mínimas. Esto se debió, más que a otra cosa, al control que ejercían 
los frailes sobre los medios económicos locales, lo cual evitaba el establecimiento 
de colonos independientes del sistema misional. La población indígena, tan nume-
rosa al verificarse la conquista, continuó desarrollándose paralelamente a la nueva 
contribución racial, aunque de hecho su extinción se inició al llegar los blancos, 
hasta desaparecer en gran parte en las postrimerías del siglo XVIII, o sea cien años 
después de haberse iniciado la penetración española. Causas: las múltiples epidemias 
traídas por los blancos y la dieta deficiente. Así fue como para 1800 había en toda la 
península 4 000 indios, localizados en la región norte; y 800 blancos, entre españoles 
y criollos, producto de los mismos cien años de colonización.

LAS PRIMERAS FAMILIAS CRIOLLAS

Los elementos castrenses tienen el lugar primordial en la creación de la familia 
no indígena en Baja California. Los primeros apellidos de tal origen diseminados en 
la tierra, fueron:
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Rodríguez.— Originado por Esteban Rodríguez Lorenzo, ayudante del con-
quistador Juan María de Salvatierra, y capitán del Presidio de Loreto por muchos 
años. Se ignora el nombre de su esposa, pero se sabe de su hijo Bernardo Rodríguez 
Larrea, que fue también capitán del Presidio; y de una hija de nombre desconocido, 
que fue la esposa de Manuel Ozio, soldado de origen andaluz, el primer gran rico 
de la tierra peninsular. Este apellido Roríguez se encuentra bastante difundido en 
las inmediaciones de Loreto, Comondú, Mulegé y otras partes; y todos los síntomas 
demuestran que viene de dicho Rodríguez Lorenzo, quien por cierto no era español, 
sino portugués.

Márquez.— Originado por Nicolás Márquez, soldado siciliano que llegó con 
Salvatierra en 1697. Se encuentra muy difundido, aunque la mayor parte de sus 
descendientes son ya mestizos.

Arce.— Originado por Juan de Arce, soldado que arribó a Loreto en el segundo 
pequeño contingente de tropa, en febrero de 1698. Era inglés de nacimiento, pero cria-
do en México, por eso tenía nombre español. Los descendientes de este sujeto se hallan 
diseminados en toda la península, especialmente en la región media, a partir de Loreto.

LAS FAMILIAS DEL SEGUNDO CUARTO 
DEL SIGLO XVIII

Puede asegurarse que las familias anteriores se formaron y desenvolvieron 
durante el primer cuarto del siglo XVIII o sea entre 1700 y 1725. En los 25 años 
siguientes se localizan las que a continuación se expresan:

Ozio, Ocio u Osio.— Fundador: un soldado del Presidio de Loreto que, como 
se ha indicado, casó con una hija del capitán Rodríguez Lorenzo. Tuvo poca 
fortuna este apellido en cuanto a difusión, por haber derivado en ramas femeninas. 
El soldado Ozio tuvo un solo hijo, Antonio, y este varios; pero, según se verá en 
este libro, la familia se fue reproduciendo en mujeres, por lo cual, aunque hay 
descendientes del fundador, estos no llevan su nombre. Existió un bisnieto de este 
Manuel de Ozio, llamado Antonio María, hijo a su vez de Juan de la Cruz Ozio. 
Antonio María casó en 1822 en San José del Cabo con Dolores Argüello, la hija 
menor de José Darío Argüello, último gobernador colonial de la Baja California. 
Este Ozio emigró a la Alta California y de allá regresó a San José del Cabo después 
de la entrada de los norteamericanos, ahora casado en segundas nupcias con Narcisa 
Soto. Procreó numerosa familia, mas a fines del siglo pasado sólo aparece un hijo 
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suyo con familia, Manuel, ya con el oficio de jornalero. Otro hijo de Antonio María 
murió soltero en Ensenada en 1898. Se llamaba Juan de la Cruz.

Romero.— Originado por Felipe Romero, soldado que a su retiro en 1768 
recibió como recompensa la casa y el terreno de la Misión de San Luis Gonzaga, que 
por sus servicios le otorgó el visitador José de Gálvez. Sus descendientes vendieron 
dicha propiedad a Pablo de la Toba en 1853. Se caracteriza esta familia en que la 
mayoría de sus miembros, si no todos, tienen los ojos claros o verdosos. Se halla muy 
extendida.

Carrillo.— Tanto o más difundido que el anterior, es este apellido. Por los 
antecedentes que del mismo existen en los archivos de la Alta California, a cuya 
conquista concurrieron algunos soldados que lo ostentaban, tenemos noticias de su 
origen. Lo mismo la rama que se desarrolló en la Alta California como la que per-
maneció en la Baja, formó parte prominente de la sociedad de su tiempo; y lo mismo 
sucedió en una y otra provincia en todo el último siglo. Los fundadores fueron 
Juan Carrillo, soldado, y Efigenia Millar. Dos de sus hijos Mariano y Guillermo, y 
un nieto, José Raymundo, marcharon en 1769 con la expedición que encabezaron 
el capitán Gaspar de Portolá y Junípero Serra. En la península quedaron los hijos de 
Juan, Raymundo e Hilario, este último casado con Josefa de Passos, ambos padres 
de José Raymundo, el que se fue a la Alta, y quien allá formó lo que los historiado-
res norteamericanos llaman, “familia Carrillo de Los Ángeles”. Varios militares 
de Baja California se convirtieron en yernos de Juan Carrillo y Efigenia Millar: 
Joseph Francisco de Ortega, Juan María Ruiz, Juan Diego Verdugo, Martín de 
Olvera y Joaquín Arce, aunque nada más se sabe de la esposa del segundo, que 
fue Ysabel, madre de José Manuel Ruiz, también militar, y la de Juan Diego Verdugo, 
María Ygnacia.

Hilario Carrillo, hijo de Juan, fue también padre de Joaquín Carrillo, quien 
fue casado con Magdalena Marrón. Estos últimos fueron a la vez padres de 
otro Joaquín, cabeza de la “familia Carrillo de San Diego”; y también de mi 
tatarabuelo Ignacio Carrillo, quien vivió y murió en el extremo sur de la península. 
Este fue casado con Susana Montaño, de la primera generación peninsular de 
este nombre. Joaquín el de San Diego, casó con Ma. Ygnacia López, hija de Juan 
Francisco López, quien llegó a la Alta California con la expedición de Juan Bautista 
de Anza, procedente de Sinaloa. Este Joaquín fue padre de 12 hijos, cinco hombres 
y siete mujeres. Una de estas,  Josefa, se hizo famosa por su romance con el capitán 
de marina mercante norteamericano Henry D. Fitch, ocurrido poco después de la 
independencia de México.

José Raymundo, hijo de Hilario, nieto de Juan, casado con Tomasa Ygnacia 
Lugo, formó en la Alta California una familia que es calificada por los historiadores 
norteamericanos como “la más prominente de las épocas española y mexicana”. Un 
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hijo suyo, Carlos Antonio, fue un hábil diputado federal y gobernador de la provincia 
por varios años. Un tataranieto de José Raymundo, el actor de cine y televisión 
Leopoldo Antonio Carrillo (Leo), dejó escrito en un libro publicado sobre el tema 
familiar: “Fuimos conocidos (en España) como los Carrillos de Albornoz y tengo un 
documento fechado hace cientos de años, en que se muestra la raíz de la familia”. 
Una hija, la única de José Raymundo, María Antonia, fue casada con José de la 
Guerra y Noriega, personaje también militar.

Habrá que informar, por ser conveniente, que los Carrillos de !a Alta fueron, en 
general, leales a México y combatieron a los norteamericanos en 1846-47, con la sola 
excepción de Pedro C. Carrillo, nieto de José Raymundo, quien desde el principio 
abrazó la causa de los extraños. En cambio, los Carrillos de la Baja California fueron 
todos incondicionales defensores de la soberanía mexicana.Para terminar con este 
apellido, al que he puesto mucha atención por estar interesado en lo personal, he 
de expresar que mi tatarabuelo Ygnacio tuvo una gran prole, como consta en las 
notas que se publican en este libro; y de ellas únicamente citaré algunos nombres: 
Anastasia que casó a los 13 años de edad, en 1838, con Antonio Pedrín, de 16, quien 
en la época de la intervención francesa fue gobernador de la península; Marcela; 
mi bisabuela, nacida en 1827 y que en 1841 casó con Ursino Álvarez; Carmen, que 
fue esposa de José Ceseña; María, esposa de Vicente Ceseña II; Cruz, casado con 
Magdalena Verduzco; Pánfila, casada con Ygnacio Verduzco y Atanasio, casado 
con Matea Armenta, abuelo del doctor Carlos Cota Carrillo y de sus hermanos que 
viven en La Paz, así como de los profesores Gonzalo y Eleazar Carrillo, que moran 
en la frontera norte.

Verdugo.— Originado por Juan Diego Verdugo, natural de El Fuerte, Sinaloa, 
donde nació en 1720. Ya se dijo que era soldado y que su esposa fue Ma. Ygnacia 
Carrillo. Su primer hijo fue Mariano, nacido en 1749 en San Javier, B. C. Sur. Este 
hijo marchó con la expedición de 1769 a la Alta California. Murió soltero y entre los 
literatos e historiadores norteamericanos se le da el título o apodo de escritor. Otro hijo 
de este matrimonio, José María, sirvió igualmente como soldado en la Alta California, 
aunque allá llegó en fecha posterior al primero. En aquella jurisdicción adquirió la 
propiedad del rancho San Rafael, también llamado Rancho Verdugo, lugar o terreno 
donde ahora se levanta la ciudad de Glendale. Fue José María Verdugo casado con 
Encarnación López, de Sinaloa, y tuvo cuatro hijos: Julio, Catalina, María Josefa y 
María Ygnacia, de los cuales la segunda murió célibe y ciega. De los descendientes 
actuales de Juan Diego Verdugo en Baja California es difícil dar cuenta con precisión, 
porque se confunden con los de otra procedencia que luego se citan. Tengo entendido 
que los Verdugo que aparecen en los registros y que se muestran extendidos de La Paz 
al sur en la primera mitad del siglo pasado, descienden de este Juan Diego Verdugo. En 
igual caso se encuentran algunos elementos localizados al norte de Loreto.
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Otra familia Verdugo, de distinto origen, fue fundada como 60 años después 
que la anterior. Sus raíces fueron Mariano Verdugo y Josefa Albarado. Este 
matrimonio radicó en Comondú y en él tienen su tronco la mayoría de los Verdugos 
de dicho lugar y de Loreto. Sus hijos: Francisco, casado con Carolina Meza; Ignacio, 
casado con Matea Cota; Loreto, casado con Luisa Cota; Antonio, casado con Josefa 
Murillo; Eugenio, casado con Dolores Murillo; Carlos, casado con Susana Romero; 
Jesús, casada con Juan Drew; Pilar, casada con Manuel Meza y, Dolores, casada con 
Loreto Murillo. Parece que este Mariano Verdugo no fue militar. Tal vez fue servidor 
de las misiones en algún otro oficio o artesanía.

FAMILIAS DE MILITARES DE LA SEGUNDA 
MITAD DEL SIGLO XVIII

Ribera y Moncada.— No es tarea fácil localizar a los descendientes de Fernando 
Javier de Ribera y Moncada, jefe que fue del Presidio de Loreto de 1751 a 1768, 
y gobernador civil y militar de la Alta en 1774. Quizá tales descendientes estén 
desparramados en las dos regiones. Por la Historia de California de Alvarado, citada 
por Bancroft, se sabe de algunos de sus hijos: Juan Bautista Francisco María, 
bautizado el 5 de octubre de 1756 en Loreto, por el P. Bischoff; José Nicolás, 
bautizado. el 8 de mayo de 1758 por el P. Lucas Ventura y hay noticia de otro, cuyo 
nombre no consta, bautizado el 9 de marzo de 1767. Ribera y Moncada murió el 
18 de julio de 1781 en el Río Colorado, atacado por guerreros indígenas, cuando 
conducía elementos humanos, de subsistencia y de trabajo para la Alta California. 
Fue casado con Teresa Alvarado.

Castro.— Originado por el soldado Francisco María Joseph de Castro, natural 
de la Villa de Sinaloa, Sin., casado con Zeferina Limón, española. Este hombre fue 
el tronco; si no de todos, por lo menos de la mayoría de los que llevan su nombre en la 
península. Se extendieron mucho hacia Santa Ana y San Antonio, primero, y luego 
a Santiago y San José del Cabo.

Verduzco.— El fundador de la familia de este apellido fue Anastasio Verduzco, 
mayordomo de la Misión de La Purísima en 1788, donde el 14 de noviembre de 
dicho año fue bautizado un hijo suyo, Alberto Magno y Rafael. Su esposa fue María 
Ygnacia Ruiz, sin duda hija de Juan María Ruiz.

Sáenz.— Originado por Cristóbal Sáenz, según la partida de una hija suya 
que hay en los residuos de registros de La Purísima, bautismo que se efectuó el 18 de 
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mayo de 1875. Fueron padrinos de la criatura Bernardo Arce y Francisca Velázquez, 
catalogados como de razón o criollos.

Ruiz.— Originado por Juan María Ruiz, militar, quien pereció atacado por 
un león. El nombre de su esposa, Ysabel Carrillo, se ha dado ya a conocer. Tal vez 
tuvo otros hijos, pero sólo se sabe de dos: José Manuel, casado con María Antonia 
Trasviña. Dicho José Manuel fue gobernador de la península y murió en La Paz, el 18 
de septiembre de 1835, a la edad de 80 años. Se conocen dos de su hijas, Ysabel y 
Salvadora, la última casada con el sargento Francisco Gastélum, el que sucedió a 
su suegro en la propiedad del Valle de Ensenada. El otro hijo de Juan María Ruiz 
fue Francisco María, militar, quien por muchos años desempeñó la guarnición del 
puerto de San Diego. Nunca se casó: Murió en dicho puerto en 1839.

Ortega.— Originado por José Francisco de Ortega, militar que marchó con las 
fuerzas de Portolá en 1769 a la conquista de la Alta California. No aparece la secuela del 
desarrollo de esta familia, pero es un hecho que esta persona trajo el apellido a la Baja 
California. Fue casado, ya está dicho, con una hija de Juan Carrillo y Efigenia Millar.

Ceseña.— De las familias fundadoras –llamo así a las que se formaron entre 
1700 y 1800– hay pocas que hayan alcanzado una expansión tan amplia como esta. 
Sus troncos fueron Juan Ignacio Ceseña y María Antonia Valle, Villa, Ovalle o Ara-
yes, pues de los cuatro modos está registrado su nombre. No he encontrado pruebas 
de que Juan Ignacio Ceseña haya sido soldado, pero todo parece indicar que lo 
fue. Dos de sus vástagos poblaron el extremo sur: Cipriano, amo y señor de Cabo 
San Lucas casado en primeras nupcias con Cornelia Castilo (Castillo o Gastélum), en 
segundas con Juana Ojeda; y Juan José, de San José del Cabo, casado con Luz Tala-
mantes. Otros desenvolvieron familias en distintos lugares, como es el caso de uno de 
nombre desconocido que dejó semilla en la región de Loreto y pueblos comarcanos; 
y una hija, Susana, que vivió muchos años en el extremo norte y murió en 1900 en 
Ensenada, a la edad de 125 años, según los registros. Esta fue casada con Guadalupe 
Meléndrez, originario de San Antonio, B. C. Sur.

Murillo (o Morillo).— Tengo la creencia bien fundada de que el apellido origi-
nal es Morillo. Encontré en el Archivo General de la Nación un documento firmado 
en 1774 por el alférez Morillo, cuyo nombre completo he extraviado. Según tal 
documento este personaje hizo la exploración previa a la fundación de El Rosario, B. 
C. Norte. Todavía hace cien años, poco más o menos, había personas que se ponían 
Morillo, no obstante ser del mismo origen que los Murillos, como podrá observarse 
en las transcripciones correspondientes. Ahora es seguramente difícil hallar una 
que así se denomine.

Salgado.— Aunque según datos localizados en fuentes norteamericanas, en la 
expedición de 1781, en que se llevaron colonos para la fundación de Los Ángeles, 
iba un tal Juan María Romero, nativo de Loreto, casado con Lugarda Salgado, del 
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mismo lugar, no me ha sido posible determinar con exactitud el tronco de este 
apellido. Solo puedo decir que entre fines del siglo XVIII y principios del XIX hubo 
un alférez Estanislao Salgado, casado con María Camacho, a quien tengo por 
cabeza de los de dicho apellido que poblaron Todos Santos y sus alrededores o 
sea el bisabuelo de Refugio, Mercedes y Rosario Salgado. Hubo, según podrá notarse 
en alguna parte de este libro, un Loreto Salgado que vivió en San Antonio; pero se 
trataba de un norteamericano que al bautizarse como era la costumbre, adoptó 
el nombre del padrino.

Avilés.— Otro de los apelativos viejos muy difundidos en B. C. Sur es este, 
llevado a la tierra por Simón Avilés, militar, retirado del servicio con el grado 
de sargento, y que obtuvo como recompensa el rancho llamado El Refugio, en la 
Municipalidad de Todos Santos. Sus descendientes aseguran que vivió alrededor 
de 120 años; y yo, por mi parte, he encontrado indicios de que esto puede ser cierto. 
Murió más o menos por el año de 1860.

Talamante (o Talamantes).— Fundador: Juan Bautista Talamantes militar. Su 
primera esposa fue María Luz Martínez y la segunda Catharina Flores o Moreno. 
Con esta casó en 1815, cuando era ya un sargento retirado.

Aguilar. — Casado con una hija del anterior, llamada Loreto, fue Luis Aguilar, 
militar, a quien el gobierno español entregó en 1795 en propiedad la Misión de 
Guadalupe, B. C. Sur. En todos los lugares vecinos a la extinta misión expresada se 
encuentra propagado este apellido y también en otras partes de la península.

Villavicencio.— Fundador: José VilIavicencio, militar, cuya esposa se llamó 
Josefa Arce. Este primer Villavivencio vivió en San José del Cabo y sus alrededores 
en el último cuarto del siglo XVIII. Uno de sus retoños, José Rosas, nació en Santa 
Catarina y fue casado con Francisca Verduzco, de Caduaño, hija de José María 
Verduzco y Josefa Marrón. Este apellido se encuentra hoy bastante difundido en 
la Municipalidad de Mulegé; pero tengo la creencia de que ciertas gentes que se 
nombran Villa en la de San José del Cabo son en realidad Villavicencio.

Marrón.— Fundadores: Guadalupe Marrón y Thomasa Arce, gente de razón, 
quienes bautizan a su hija Albara en La Purísima en 1799. De esta pareja arrancan 
los Marrón del sur y del norte de la península, entre otros José María, que pobló 
Caduaño; pero hay dos troncos de Marrón que son de otra procedencia: José 
María, moro de Calcula, ahijado del anterior, de quien tomó su nombre. No hay 
señales del rumbo que; tomaron sus descendientes. Otro es Francisco Marrón, de 
origen egipcio, que en 1834 casa con Juliana Fajardo. La familia se radicó en la Playa 
de San José del Cabo. Algunos de sus hijos: Ramón, Prudencio y Sabás.
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IMPORTANCIA DE SANTA ANA EN EL POBLAMIENTO DE 
BAJA CALIFORNIA

Poco interés se ha puesto en el estudio de la importancia histórica de Santa 
Ana, en el Municipio de San Antonio. La contribución de esta región al poblamiento 
de la península es verdaderamente notable. Véase: el Sistema misional creado por 
los jesuitas impedía, por su propia organización, ya se ha dicho, que se establecieran 
en la tierra otras gentes que no fueran aquellas  que dependían y podían subsistir 
al amparo del mencionado sistema. No obstante lo anterior, hubo alguien que se 
atreviera a romper tales restricciones y decidiera fundar un centro de población y 
de trabajo independiente de la jerarquía religiosa. Quien tal proceder adoptó fue 
el soldado presidial Manuel de Ozio, antes nombrado en esta introducción, quien 
habiéndose separado del servicio, en virtud de haberle dado fortuna las perlas; se 
dedicó después a la ganadería y luego a la minería. Fue en la jurisdicción de Santa 
Ana, de que se viene tratando, donde este hombre levantó sus empresas.

Las ruinas de las plantas mineras de Ozio nos dan una idea aproximada 
de la extensión de sus negocios y eso mismo nos hace ver la gran cantidad de 
servidumbre y trabajadores que debe haber ocupado, entre. vaqueros, mineros, 
marinos, arrieros y de otras actividades y oficios, pues las referidas plantas eran 
de lo más moderno de su época. A simple vista puede afirmarse que el personal 
no puede haber sido menor de 300 hombres, de los cua1es la mayor parte eran 
blancos y el resto formado por negros e indios traídos de la otra banda. Esto significa 
que la contribución familiar de Santa Ana equilibró y aun superó a la de los centros 
militares en un lapso de dos décadas. Santa Ana dio origen, además, al nacimiento de 
otro mineral: San Antonio. A este segundo punto pasaron a residir los habitantes 
del primer lugar al disminuir en buena proporción el caudal del venero que lo sostenía.

El fundador de Santa Ana, Ozio, murió asesinado: una versión asegura que por 
los indios nativos; otra, que fue mandado matar por los depositarios de sus inmensas 
riquezas desde Guadalajara, para quedarse con ellas. De seguro no se sabrá nunca 
la verdad sobre el asunto.

Muchas familias surgieron de Santa Ana, de las cuales no se conocen los 
fundadores. Tal sucede con los apellidos Cota, León, Duarte, Amador, Beltrán, 
Ajuque, Fajardo, Martínez, González, Lara, Flores, Moreno, Olachea, Morales, 
Barrera, Villa, Arballo, Gerardo y Geraldo, Cadena, Guerrero, Hirales, Ojeda, 
Orozco, García, Orantes y algunos otros, según podrá notarse en los registros de San 
Antonio. Daré a conocer, sin embargo, unas cuantas de las raíces de los clanes de 
estos lugares que he podido aclarar:
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Álvarez.— Fundadores: Honorato Álvarez y Ma. Pilar Miranda. De estos parte 
la mayoría de quienes llevan este apellido en Baja California. Honorato Álvarez hijo 
y Francisca Mendoza fueron los padres de mi bisabuelo Ursino Álvarez y este, padre 
de mi abuela Francisca Álvarez.

Mendoza.— Fundadores: Francisco Mendoza y Nicolasa Castro. En un 
documento encontrado en el Archivo General de la Nación he podido hallar 
el nombre de este varón Francisco Mendoza, quien en 1777 era dueño de la 
mina “El Triunfo”, la más rica hasta entonces descubierta. Es el tronco de todos 
los Mendoza existentes en la península en los siglos XVIII y XIX, pues sólo por 
excepción podrá encontrarse uno que no provenga de él. Esta pareja tuvo varios 
hijos; entre ellos a Alejandro, padre de Francisca Mendoza, mi tatarabuela.

Estrada.— Fundador: Encarnación Estrada. También sobre este individuo 
he encontrado noticias en el Archivo General de la Nación. Era un empleado del 
gobierno español en Santa Ana, allá por el año de 1780. Desafortunadamente no se 
encuentran documentalmente probados los nexos familiares con sus descendientes; 
pero eso no quiere decir que no sea Encarnación Estrada la raíz de todos los que 
llevan este apellido en esta tierra.

Domínguez.— Fundador: José Domínguez, mayordomo de la Misión de Todos 
Santos, quien ocupaba este puesto en 1771. De él dependen quienes ostentan. tal 
nombre en la región sur, especialmente los de Todos Santos.

Calderón.— Fundador: Venancio Calderón, según consta por algunos docu-
mentos que se reproducen extractados en esta obra.

Después de todo lo expuesto hay que observar que de Santa Ana y San Antonio 
salió mucha gente para establecerse más al sur, en San Bartolo, por toda la costa, 
lo mismo que en Santiago, San José del Cabo y Todos Santos. Bastará con estudiar los 
linajes existentes en todos esos puntos para confirmar este aserto.

OTRAS FAMILIAS DE PRINCIPIOS 
DE LA 19’ CENTURIA

De la Toba.— Fundador: Fernando de la Toba, quien en 1802 llegó a Monte-
rrey, Alta California, por mar, a los 16 años de edad, desde España, con el grado de 
cadete. Fue uno de los dos oficiales que vivieron en las Californias y que en su hoja 
de servicios tienen la anotación de hijodalgo, el primer peldaño de la nobleza. El otro 
fue el gobernador Diego de Borica, que era caballero de la Orden de Santiago. De la 
Toba casó con Teresa Verduzco y procreó numerosa familia. Al verificarse la expul-
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sión de los españoles puso todo el peso de sus ansiedades para ser dispensado de los 
efectos del decreto correspondiente y lo obtuvo.

Montaño.— Fundadores: José María Montaño y Gertrudis Castro. Era este 
primer Montaño un español chaparro y gordo, que vino de Tepic, según sus 
descendientes. Su esposa era natural de las Vinoramas, Municipio de Santiago. 
Algunos de sus hijos, son, entre otros: Susana, casada con Ygnacio Carrillo; Jesús, 
casada con Cristóbal Acevedo y Nicolás, casado en primeras nupcias con Gertrudis 
Carrillo y en segundas con Carmen Ferrer.

Meza.— Fundador: Miguel Meza, casado con Luz Arce. En 1826 era presi-
dente Municipal en Loreto y con ese carácter estuvo encargado temporalmente del 
gobierno de la península. Es el tronco de todos los Meza de Baja California, por lo 
menos de todos los existentes en el siglo XIX. Fundó la sección de San Miguel en 
el pueblo de Comondú, la que por él lleva tal nombre.

Angulo.— Fundadores: Juan José Angulo y Rosario Lafuente. Residieron en San 
Antonio y tuvieron numerosos descendientes.

Navarro.— Fundadores: Antonio Navarro y Josefa Castro. Este Navarro fue 
originario de Tepic y en Baja California tuvo gran cantidad de hijos. como podrá verse 
en los registros de San Antonio. Murió asesinado en dicho lugar, donde había residido 
siempre. Hay Navarros de otro origen, cuyos fundadores no se conocen.

Legaspi.— Fundadores: Victorino Legaspi y Josefa Fajardo. El, originario de 
Filipinas. Su hijo Victorino murió por la patria durante la invasión francesa y Manuel 
tomó parte en varios movimientos armados ocurridos en la península, entre otros 
el de la revolución del general Manuel Márquez de León, en 1789.

Canseco.— Fundadores: Miguel Canseco y Loreto Martínez. quienes tuvieron 
un hijo, Valero, el que a su vez tuvo varios vástagos. Este fue casado en primeras 
nupcias con Rafaela Cota y en segundas con Amelia Cota, hermana de la anterior. 
Miguel Canseco, como Legaspi, era natural de Filipinas y llegó a Baja California 
recién consumada la independencia nacional.

Ruffo.— El primer Antonio Ruffo arriba a Baja California en 1829, pero 
no se queda en la tierra de inmediato, pues según consta en los registros volvió a 
Acapulco, donde nació su hija Soledad. Era español, originario de Cartagena. Su 
esposa se llamaba Josefa Santa Cruz y era oriunda de Pyura, pueblo del norte del 
Perú. Varios de sus hijos nacieron en la península entre otros Antonio II, en el año de 
1841. Antonio Ruffo, el fundador: falleció en 1849, en La Paz, de muerte repentina.

Villarino.— Un personaje por demás interesante en la historia regional es el sa-
cerdote Gabriel González. De origen español, nacido en la Villa de Hermosillo, Pro-
vincia de Ávila, vino a la península en 1825 y a los pocos años empezó a tener familia 
en Todos Santos. La madre de sus vástagos se llamó Dionisia Villalobos Albáñez. 
Al principio puso a sus hijos el apellido de la madre y luego los denominó Villarino. 
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Sus retoños fueron: Salvador, Gregorio, Atanasio, Jesús, Pedro, Gabriel, Guadalupe, 
Dolores, Joaquín y Tomasa. Se dice que el padre Gabriel González es importante 
en la historia regional, porque durante la guerra con Estados Unidos desarrolló una 
acción de mucho efecto, pues junto con otros bajacalifornianos patriotas evitó que 
la península pasara al dominio de una potencia extranjera. Los padres del sacerdote 
Gabriel González fueron Simón González y Juana Pereyra. Murió en Todos Santos 
en 1868, a la edad de 65 años.

CONTRIBUCIÓN DE SANGRE NO ESPAÑOLA A LA 
COMPOSICIÓN FAMILIAR DE BAJA CALIFORNIA

Raros eran los casos de afluencia de extranjeros a Baja California durante la 
época colonial; sin embargo, ya hemos visto que tres de los primeros pobladores eu-
ropeos eran de origen no español. Cuando se consumó la independencia de México, 
se inició cierto movimiento de extranjeros que vinieron a establecerse en la península 
y se quedaron definitivamente en ella. En la punta sur la mayoría de estos imigrantes 
fueron desertores de barcos balleneros que se fugaban, huyendo del rigor de la vida a 
bordo. Los habitantes de la región los llaman indebidamente piratas. En una ocasión 
seis individuos jóvenes abandonaron al mismo tiempo la barca ballenera en que tra-
bajaban. Fueron estos los que llevaban los apellidos siguientes: Hastings, Collins, Le-
ggs, Mc Clish, Gavarine y Robinson. Los descendientes actuales de algunos de estos 
seis extranjeros alegan que sus predecesores eran estudiantes ingleses que habían sido 
plagiados y embarcados por la fuerza, pero esto puede ser o no ser cierto. La verdad es 
que llegaron en tales barcos y que se internaron en la tierra para librarse del mal trato 
de que eran objeto. De todos ellos hablaré más adelante; antes quiero advertir que en 
aquellos lejanos tiempos los inmigrantes no católicos tenían que rebautizarse confor-
me a este rito para ingresar a la comunidad y, sobre todo, para contraer matrimonio. 
Acerca de: tal cosa hay que tener presente que por lo general los extranjeros adopta-
ban un primer nombre español y como segundo el del padrino, aunque después, en 
la mayoría. de los casos, usaban de nuevo el apellido original. Ahora examinaremos 
las familias formadas por los primeros inmigrantes extranjeros en la Baja California.

Smith.— Fundador: James Wilcox Smith, no de origen ballenero, sino en apa-
riencia un caballero inglés, de algunos posibles económicos al llegar a la tierra. Arribó 
a Loreto entre 1817 y 1818. Trató con todas sus ansias de casarse con Concepción Ar-
güello, la hija del gobernador y esta joven, grandemente desilusionada por un roman-
ce anterior con el ruso Rezanof, lo rechazó. Contrajo matrimonio con una señorita 
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Verdugo, cuyo primer nombre no me ha sido posible encontrar. Este sujeto fue el tron-
co familiar de quienes conservan tal apellido en Comondú y lugares circunvecinos.

Sández.— Fundador José Sández (para mí Sand, en inglés, que se fue castella-
nizando hasta quedar en la forma presente). Esta persona debe haberse establecido 
en la tierra entre 1816 y 1820. Vivió en Santiago, B. C. Sur, casado con Ma. Gua-
dalupe Castro y tiene numerosa descendencia.

Pedrín.— (Debería pronunciarse pedrán). Fundadores: Juan Pedro Pedrín y 
Loreto Ceseña, esta última hija de Cipriano Ceseña. El Pedrín fundador era fran-
cés y ha tenido muchos descendientes. Un hijo suyo fue Antonio, ya citado antes. 
También fueron hijos suyos José Ygnacio, que casó con Juana Green; Eugenio, 
que casó con Jesús Fontes y algunos otros hombres y mujeres. Hubo un holandés 
rebautizado adulto en San José del Cabo en 1824, bajo el nombre de José Guillermo 
Pedrín, por el padrino, que fue el anteriormente citado. Este último Pedrín casa con 
Ysabel Ceseña, igualmente hija de Cipriano Ceseña, y tuvo varios vástagos, pero a 
la fecha se ignora quienes constituyen sus ramificaciones, si es que las hay, pues lo 
que subsiste perfectamente determinado es la descendencia de Juan Pedro Pedrín.

Gibert.— Fundador: Gerónimo Gibert, francés, quien en 1834 casó en San 
Antonio con Josefa de la Toba, hija de Fernando de la Toba.

Ahora traeré a cuento a los seis jóvenes ingleses antes mencionados, quienes por 
un capricho de la suerte desembarcaron en San José del Cabo y permanecieron en la 
península por el resto de sus días, algunos desaparecidos en muy avanzada edad:

Fiol.— Fundador: Jacinto Fiol, cuyo nombre original era el de John Hastings, 
que cambió por el del sacerdote que lo bautizó. Casó en 1826 con Pilar Mendoza, 
hija de Alejandro Mendoza y Anastasia Ojeda. Procreó varios retoños: Jesús, Lino y 
otros. Murió asesinado por dificultades con sus peones de campo, según versión que 
subsiste entre las gentes de su sangre.

Collins.— Fundador: John Collins, quien fue rebautizado bajo el nombre de Juan 
Bautista Montaña, el cual cambió posteriormente por Juan Colín. Nació en Londres 
el 24 de junio de 1796 y murió en Miraflores el 3 de julio de 1866. Fue casado con 
Loreto Marrón.

Maclís.— Fundador: John Mc Clish, que se rebautizó con el nombre de Juan 
Aguilar, por el padrino y, después, castellanizando el original inglés, adoptó el de 
Juan Maclís. Casó con Narcisa Castillo, de Santa Ana, en 1825. Sus hijos: Juan: 
Santiago, Ysabel y Pilar. Juan Maclís II tuvo la pequeña cifra de 22 vástagos. En 
ocasión de la guerra entre México y los Estados Unidos, el primer Maclís tomó el 
partido de los segundos y peleó contra los mexicanos. Cuando se hizo la paz tuvo 
que embarcarse para la Alta California; y al llegar a Monterrey sus jóvenes hijas 
casaron con dos soldados norteamericanos (algunos descendientes de ellos afirman que 
eran oficiales lo cual puede ser cierto). Cuatro o cinco años después toda la familia 
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de Juan Maclís, incluyendo a los yernos, regresó a la península y se estableció nue-
vamente en la región de Miraflores y El Ranchito.

Gavaráin.— Fundador: José Antonio Gavarine, quien al rebautizarse sólo tuvo 
que españolizar su nombre en la forma anotada. Parece que efectuó un primer 
matrimonio con María Beltrán y al enviudar poco después casó con Beatriz Ozio. 
No se ha extendido este apellido en la forma que los anteriores, pero queda buena 
cantidad de gente que lo lleva hoy día.

Leggs.— Fundador: John Leggs. Tengo la sospecha. de que este hombre se 
rebautizó con el nombre de Guadalupe Márquez y que muchos años después re-
cuperó el original inglés.

Robinson.— Fundador: Peter Robinson. Este hombre parece que no cambió de 
nombre al rebautizarse y se llamó desde el principio Pedro Robinson. Se estableció 
en Santiago y fue casado con Vicenta García.

Aquí termina la relación de los seis jóvenes ingleses. Ahora seguiré con otros 
elementos extranjeros.

Fisher.— Fundador: William Fisher, norteamericano, quien en 1829 es 
rebautizado con el nombre de José Guillermo Ceseña, por su padrino y próximo 
suegro Cipriano Ceseña. Casa con una hija de éste llamada Liberata y entre 1843 
y 1844 emigra a la Alta California, de donde años después dos de sus hijos, los 
gemelos Tomás y Cipriano, regresan a la península y se quedan en los Municipios de 
Santiago y San José del Cabo, respectivamente.

Ritchie.— Fundador: Thomás Ritchie, inglés, pescador de ballenas, quien se 
queda en Cabo San Lucas entre 1830 y 1831. Casa primero con Loreto Higuera y 
al enviudar contrae nupcias con Ynés Villavicencio en 1851.

Green.— Fundador: Estevan Green, inglés, pescador de ballenas. Se queda en 
Cabo San Lucas en 1834, se rebautiza a fines de ese año sin cambiar de nombre y a 
principios del siguiente casa con María de Jesús Ceseña, con quien diez años después 
tenía tres hijos: Yldefonso Cipriano, Félix y Juana. Emigró a la Alta California y allá 
murió como por 1850. Su viuda contrajo segundas nupcias con Salvador Castro y 
tuvo más familia. El linaje de Estevan Green se ha propagado en buena proporción.

Corazón.— Fundador John Hearst o Juan Corazón, soldado norteamericano 
que casó con Ysabel, hija de Juan Maclís y Narcisa Castillo.

Kennedy.— Fundador: Eduardo Kennedy, soldado norteamericano que como 
el anterior, combatió en Baja California en 1847-48 contra los mexicanos. Casó con 
Pilar Maclís. Este hombre fue asesinado en 1860 en La Paz, por un error, a causa de 
los líos de faldas de su cuñado Santiago Maclís. Pilar, la viuda de Kennedy, murió en 
1934, a los 105 años de edad, pensionada por el gobierno norteamericano. Varios 
vástagos de los Kennedy se notan en los registros respectivos. Una hija, Ysabel, 
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casó con Ramón Ceseña, de Loreto. Retoños de este matrimonio: Ramón, Emilia, 
Ysabel, Alejandro, Enrique y Eduardo.

No proseguiré haciendo más explicaciones sobre familias formadas por 
extranjeros, en virtud de que este aspecto del movimiento de población de nuestra 
península aparece en lo sucesivo con mayor claridad en el material de este libro.

RAICES FAMILIARES DE BAJA CALIFORNIA NORTE

El movimiento demográfico del hoy estado de Baja California (Norte), en 
el aspecto que se ha venido tratando, es decir, de gente blanca, criolla o mestiza, 
tiene, en sus inicios, su base en la población de Baja California Sur; y los fenóme-
nos y el proceso de desenvolvimiento del mismo están caracterizados por idénticas 
circunstancias: desarrollo paralelo con el de los indios, con la diferencia de que al 
cumplirse los primeros cien años de colonización quedaron en esta región restos de 
población indígena, que subsisten hoy muy mermados. Los apellidos de soldados 
entraron a este territorio desde mediados del siglo XVIII y con mayor lentitud que 
en el sur y en mucho menor proporción se extendió por este la población blanca.

No existen archivos parroquiales anteriores al Registro Civil y no hay manera 
de entrar en detalles de la organización de las primeras familias, como se ha hecho 
respecto al sur; pero por lo que nos ofrecen los papeles oficiales desde 1861, podemos 
percatamos de que los apellidos predominantes en esta tierra hace un siglo, eran 
en su mayoría –ya se ha dicho– aquellos que hemos citado respecto al extremo sur: 
Morillo o Murillo, Orantes, Arce, Manríquez, Duarte, Marrón, Carrillo, Acevedo, 
López, Espinosa, Meléndrez, Álvarez, Ortega, Aguilar, Amador, Legaspi, Romero y 
otros. Encuéntranse algunos de diferentes procedencias, como: Pellejeros, Montes, 
Yorba, Machado, Granado, Ortiz, Federico, Eparza, Montenegro, Loya, Pompa y 
algunos más que se hallan en los registros.

Por la misma época hay cierto número de hombres extranjeros, entre los que 
se cuentan los siguientes: Gilbert, Warner, Hyde, Bragg, Lebrán, Scott, Butiyer, 
Blanchar, Rubotton, Lebrung, Monarca, Upton, Soule, Pierrot, Barbieri, Flowers, 
Martorrel, Mc Aller, Campbell, Bonner, Martin, Eaton, Crosthwaite y varios más.

Debe recalcarse que hasta antes de 1848 las gentes que acudían a estable-
cerse en Baja California Norte procedían de Baja California Sur; mas a partir de 
dicho año empezaron a cruzar la frontera con el país vecino ciertos inmigrantes 
extranjeros y también mexicanos de diversas entidades, principalmente de Sonora. 
Este movimiento aumentó al descubrirse los placeres auríferos de Real del Castillo, 
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en 1871. En esta etapa son igualmente nacionales y extranjeros los contingentes 
migratorios. Y hay otra corriente humana cuando se formalizan en 1886 los tra-
bajos de colonización por empresas inglesas y norteamericanas. No fue esta última 
corriente de densidad suficiente para resolver los problemas de poblar la tierra; 
pero, después de todo, algo quedó. Los nacionales estuvieron representados espe-
cialmente por elementos del Territorio Sur; y los extranjeros por norteamericanos 
aunque hubo de otras nacionalidades.

Y como en las páginas siguientes de este libro todo se manifiesta con bastante 
claridad en relación con esta Entidad, no entro en explicaciones de tipo individual, 
pidiendo al lector solamente que revise el contenido de esta obra para que conozca 
lo que pueda interesarle.

ADVERTENCIAS FINALES

1)	Alrededor de doce mil extractos de partidas de bautismo o nacimiento, de 
matrimonio y defunción se insertan en este tratado.

2)	Los nombres de personas se copian como se encuentran escritos en las 
fuentes originales, por más que muchos estén incorrectos.

3)	No se han acopiado materiales respecto a hijos naturales, mas hay asientos 
en que se trata de hijos legítimos y no se indica que lo son. El autor no se siente au-
torizado para variar la composición original, por lo que los deja así.

4)	Algunos asientos tienen más datos que otros. Se reproducen tal como se 
hallan en los libros, con mayor o menor amplitud.

5)	En dondequiera que falte un dato importante o esté en blanco su lugar, 
téngase entendido que el registro está ilegible. En igual caso deben considerarse los 
saltos en fechas, por meses y años o están borrados los asientos o falta parte del libro.

6)	De las edades con que han sido inscritas las personas sólo son confiables 
las de nacimiento; las de matrimonio o fallecimiento, no siempre.

7)	En el índice onomástico nada más se inscriben a los que nacen o falle-
cen; de los matrimonios, únicamente a los maridos.

8)	Lo que en una nota se encuentra entre paréntesis es agregado o aclaración 
del autor.

9)	Nadie se dé por desairado si sus antepasados no salen en esta obra. Si tal cosa 
sucede es que no se han encontrado en los archivos o fragmentos de archivos existentes.

10)	Cuando en un asiento no se anote lugar, véase la parte superior de la página.

El autor.



INTRODUCTION 

WHY THIS BOOK WAS WRITTEN

I mentioned various prominent people in my History of  Lower California who 
were active in different periods of  the peninsula. After describing their participa-
tion in past events, I decided to do some research on their family background based 
on early records.

And so, after finishing the History of  Lower California, I devoted myself  to 
examining the peninsula archives. I became profoundly alarmed as I realized that 
many of  the parochial records, as well as those of  the State, had been destroyed 
either through natural causes or human carelessness; and that the remaining ones 
were also headed for destruction unless an effort was made to preserve them, or at 
least copy them as to text.

Therefore, I decided to write this book. I have put in it all the information that 
the ecclesiastical and State archives contain. I endeavored to select a few members 
of  the more noted families of  Lower California, most of  whom are known to me. I 
also selected a few from the lesser known families. The main purpose of  this book. 
is to preserve family data from the 18th and 19th centuries for genealogical and 
biographical use. I have worked for several years and the crop has been copious; a 
crop that would have been more abundant if  the archives had been complete and 
legible. Most of  the papers relating to the 18th century are lacking or there are 
only small fragments of  them. But there are many documents pertaining to the 19th 
century, although incomplete. I am sure nevertheless, that the material collected 
and here reproduced is extensive enough to give an exact idea of  how the Lower 
California society started since the conquest late in the 17th century, and how this 
society developed until the end of  the 19th century. The 20th century will be a 
matter of  another book. For the time being the important thing, in my opinion, is 
to establish the root of  the pioneer families of  the peninsula people and save the 
remains of  the old record s before these become only dust.
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SUI GENERIS SOCIOLOGICAL PHENOMENA IN 
LOWER CALIFORNIA

In the process of  my research I came to some conclusions of  sociological 
character. Among others, one important conclusion is that during the colonial 
epoch, white men did not mix their blood with the autochthonous race as it 
happened throughout other territories occupied by Spain in America. In the first 
place, the conqueror of  Lower California was not a military man but a priest and 
as such maintained the roles of  abstinence due to an affective vow of  chastity. 
Neither did the conqueror priest permit the men of  arms under his command 
to use the Indian women to satisfy their passions contrary to the procedure of  
Hernan Cortez and other conquerors. A soldier who arrived a bachelor in Lower 
California was sent immediately to Sonora or Sinaloa to look for a Creole wife in 
the missional centers of  those regions; so that no man in military service stayed 
unmarried very long. The mixed blood population, I think, began to be produced 
in a wide proportion after the independence revolution when the Indians from the 
continental part of  Mexico were permitted more freedom of  movement, according 
with the new laws, and so began to migrate to the peninsula.

The Spanish and Creole population, the latter with no Indian blood, expanded 
very slowly. This was mainly due to the control that be priests exercised over the lo-
cal economic resources, which prevented independent colonists from settling except 
when under the missional system. The autochthonous population, so numerous at the 
moment of  the conquest, continued its reproduction in a parallel line to that 
of  the Spanish and Creole society, though, as a matter of  fact, its extinction began 
whom the latter started and it almost disappeared at the end of  the 18th century or 
one hundred years after the Spaniards came. Causes: Many epidemics and a defi-
cient diet. Consequently by 1 800 there were throughout the peninsula 4 000 Indians 
spread over the northern region, and 800 white persons (Spaniards and Creoles), at 
the end of  one hundred years of  colonization.

THE FIRST CREOLE FAMILIES

The military elements were foremost in the creation of  the non-Indian families 
of  Lower California. The pioneer surnames of  such origin were the following:

Rodriguez.— Originated by Estevan Rodriguez Lorenzo, the well known as-
sistant to the conqueror Juan María de Salvatierra, Governor of  Lower California 
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for many years. His wife’s name is not known but the name of  one his children was 
Bernardo Rodriguez Larrea. He was captain of  the Presidio of  Loreto. We also 
know of  a daughter of  Rodriguez Lorenzo whose name is lost. She was Manuel 
de Ozio’s wife. Ozio was an Andalusian soldier who became the first wealthy man 
in the peninsula ground. The surname Rodriguez is spread through Loreto, Co-
mondú, Mulege and other places. Everything indicates that it comes from the said 
Rodriguez Lorenzo who was not a Spaniard, but a Portuguese.

Marquez.— Originated by Nicolas Marquez, a soldier and a Sicilian by origin 
who arrived with Salvatierra in 1697. This name is well scattered although it seems 
the greater part of  this surname is carried on by people of  mixed blood.

Arce.— Originated by Juan de Arce, a soldier who arrived in Loreto with the sec-
ond little group of  troops in February, 1869. He was an English man by birth, raised 
in Mexico, so he acquired a Spanish name. The descendants of  this personage are 
scattered over the whole peninsula, especially in the middle area starting from Loreto.

FAMILIES FROM THE SECOND QUARTER OF THE 
XVIII CENTURY

It can be assured that the afore mentioned families rose and developed during 
the first quarter of  the 18th century, that is, between 1700 and 1725. In the next 
twenty-five years the following can be cited:

Ozio, Ocio or Osio.— Founder: Manuel de Ozio, a soldier of  the Presidio of  
Loreto; married a Rodriguez Lorenzo daughter. This surname did not progress, 
speaking of  diffusion, since most descendants were female. The soldier Ozio had 
an only son, Antonio, who had several sons. But, as can be noted in this book, the 
family consisted mostly of  women. This is why, although there are descendants 
of  the founder, they do not carry his name. There existed a great grandson of  
Manuel de Ozio, Antonio Maria by name, son of  Juan de la Cruz Ozio. Antonio 
Maria married Dolores Argüello, the younger daughter of  Jose Dario Argüello, 
last Colonial Governor of  Lower California. The marriage took place at San Jose 
del Cabo in 1822. Antonio Maria migrated to Upper California but he retumed to 
San Jose del Cabo after the Americans took over that province, then married Narcisa 
Soto in second nuptials. He had many children, however at the end of  the last 
century it appeared only one of  his sons want married and had a family and was 
working as a field hand. Another son of  Antonio Maria, Juan de la Cruz, died a 
bachelor at Ensenada in 1898.
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Romero.— Originated by the soldier Felipe Romero who, at the moment of  his 
retiring in 1768, received from the Visitador Jose de Galvez the house and the ground 
of  Mission San Luis Gonzaga as a grant for his services. Felipe Romero’s descendants 
sold the said property to Pablo de la Toba in 1853. This family, Romero, is character-
ized because most of  its members, if  not all of  them, have clear or greenish eyes.

Carrillo.— Equially extended as the one cited before is this surname. Through 
the records existing in the Upper California archives we have information about 
its origin as some individuals of  said surname entered that province as conquerors. 
The branch developed in Upper California, as well as that continuing in Lower 
California where it originated, became a prominent part of  the society of  the 
time, and it continued in both provinces through the last century. The founders 
were Juan Carrillo, a soldier, and Efigenia. Millar. Two of  their children, Mariano 
and Jose Guillermo, and a grandson, Jose Raymundo, marched from the penin-
sula in 1769 as members of  the expedition headed by Captain Gaspar de Portola 
and Junipero Serra. Raymundo and Hilario, brothers of  Mariano and Guillermo, 
remained in Lower California. The latter married Josefa de Passos and was the 
father of  Jose Raymundo. This Jose Raymundo created in Upper California what 
the American historians call “the Carrillo family of  Los Angeles”.

Several members of  the Spanish army became sons in law of  Juan Carrillo and 
Efigenia Millar: Joseph Francisco de Ortega; Juan Maria Ruiz who married Ysabel 
Carrillo; Juan Diego Verdugo, married Ma. Ignacia Carrillo; Martín de Olvera and 
Joaquín Arce. Juan Maria Ruiz and Ysabel wehe the parents of  Jose Manuel Ruiz, 
also a man of  arms.

Hilario Carrillo, son of  Juan, was the father of  Joaquin Carrillo whose wife 
was Magdalena Marron. Joaquin Carrillo and Magdalena Marron were in turn 
parents of  another Joaquín Carrillo, head of  “the Carrillo family of  San Diego”, 
and also. parents of  my great-great-grandfather, Ygnacio Carrillo, who lived and 
died at the southern tip of  the peninsula. His wife was Susana Montaño from the 
first generation of  this surname. Joaquin, the one of  San Diego, married Maria 
Ygnacia Lopez, daughter of  Juan Francisco Lopez who arrived in Upper Califor-
nia in the expedition of  Juan Bautista de Anza from Sinaloa. This Joaquin was the 
father of  twelve children, five boys and seven girls. One of  the latter, Josefa, became 
famous because of  her romance with Henry D. Fitch, an American, captain of  a 
trading ship. This occurred soon after the Mexican Independence, Revolution.

Jose Raymundo, son of  Hilario, Juan’s grandson, married Tomasa Ygnacia 
Lugo and established in Upper California a family which is qualified by American 
historians as “the most prominent in the province during the Spanish and Mexican 
epochs”. One of  his sons, Carlos Antonio, played the roll of  an efficient federal 
representative (in Mexico City) and was Governor of  the region for several years. 
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A great-great-grandson of  Jose Raymundo, the cine and television actor Leopoldo 
Antonio Carrillo (Leo), wrote in a book published on family affairs: “We were 
known (in Spain) as the Carrillos de Albornoz and I have a document dating back 
hundred of  years showing the family crest.” A daughter, the only one of  Jose Ray-
mundo, Maria Antonia, married Jose de la Guerra y Noriega, a military personage too.

I wounld like to state at this time that the Carrillos of  Upper California were, in 
general, loyal to Mexico and fought the Americans in 1846-47, with the exception of  
Pedro C. Carrillo, Jose Raymundo’s grandson, who from the beginning embraced 
the cause of  the invaders. The Carrillos of  Lower California were unconditional sup-
porters of  the Mexican severeignity.

Before ending the account relating to this surname, to which I have paid 
special attention because I was personally interested, I wish to express that my 
great-great-grandfather, Ygnacio, had numerous progeny, as is shown in this book. 
From this progeny I will give some names: Anastasia, at thirteen married Antonio 
Pedrin, sixteen. Her husband was peninsula governor during the French lnterven-
tion in Mexico. Marcela, my great-grand-mother, born in 1827, married Ursino 
Alvarez in 1841. Carmen, married Jose Ceseña. Maria, the wife of  Vicente Ce-
seña II Cruz, married Magdalena Verduzco. Panfila, married Ygnacio Verduzco. 
Atanasio, married Matea Arrnenta, grandfather of  doctor Carlos Cota Carrillo 
and his brothers and sisters living at La Paz, as well as the professors Gonzalo and 
Eleazar Carrillo who have their residence in the State of  Lower California.

Verdugo.— Originated by Juan Diego Verdugo, a native of  El Fuerte, Sinaloa, 
where he was born in 1720. It has already been said that he was a soldier and that 
his wife was Maria Ynacia Carrillo. Their first child, Mariano, was born in 1749 
at San Javier. This Mariano marched in the expedition which entered Upper Cali-
fornia to conquer it. He died unmarried and among writers and historians of  that 
California has the title, or nickname, of  “the Writer”. Another child of  this couple, 
Jose Maria, equally lent his services as a soldier in Upper California, although he 
arrived there at a later date. In that jurisdiction he acquired the property of  San 
Rafael Ranch, also called Verdugo Ranch, location today of  the City of  Glendale. 
He married Encarnacion Lopez from Sinaloa and had bur children: Julio, Maria 
Josefa, Maria Ygnacia and Cataline, the latter dying unmarried and blind. Juan 
Diego Verdugo’s descendants are difficult ad to locate with precision because they 
are intermingled with those of  another origin who are listed below. I suppose the 
Verdugos registered in this book who appear living south of  La Paz about or febore 
the middle of  the past century came from this Juan Diego Verdugo. Some of  them 
were extended to the north of  Loreto as well.

Another Verdugo family of  a distinct origin was formed near sixty years after 
the first one registered. Its founders: Mariano Verdugo and Josefa Alvarado. This 
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couple settled in Comondu and is the root of  the Verdugos in this place as well as 
those of  Loreto and outskirts. Children were: Francisco, married Carolina Meza; 
Ygnacio, married Matea Cota; Loreto, married Luisa Cota; Antonio, married 
Josefa Murillo; Eugenio, married Dolores Murillo; Carlos, married Susana Romero; 
Dolores, married Loreto Murillo; Jesus, married Juan Drew. It seems Mariano 
Verdugo was not a soldier; perhaps he was a missional servant in some other trade.

FAMILIES FORMED BY MILITIA MEN IN THE SECOND 
HALF OF THE XVIII CENTURY

Ribera y Moncada.— It is not an easy task to find the descendants of  Fernando 
Javier de Ribera y Moncada, Chief  of  the Presidio of  Loreto from 1751 to 1768, 
Civil and Military Governor of  Upper California in 1774. Perhaps they are scat-
tered in both regions. Through History of  California by Alvarado, cited by Bancroft, 
something is known about his children: Juan Bautista Francisco Maria, baptized at 
Loreto on October 5, 1756 by Father Bischoff; Jose Nicolas, baptized on May 8, 1758 
by Father Lucas Ventura; and there is information about another child baptized on 
March 9, 1767 whose record is not found. His wife was Teresa Alvarado Ribera y 
Moncada lost his life on July 18, 1781 at the Colorado River when he was attacked 
by and Indian war party while leading an expedition consisting of  people, provisions 
and working materials headed for Upper California.

Castro.— Originated by Francisco Maria Joseph de Castro, a soldier from 
Sinaloa, married Zeferina Limon, a Spanish woman. He is the root of  most, if  not 
all, of  those who have this name in the peninsula. They scattered toward Santa Ana 
and San Antonio at first, later toward Santiago and San Jose del Cabo.

Verduzco.— The founder of  the family of  this surname was Anastasio Verduzco 
who occupied the position of  superintendent of  Mission La Purisima. He married 
Maria Ygnacia Ruiz. In this place on November 14, 1788 one of  his children, 
Alberto Magno Raphael, was baptized. His wife was no doubt the daughter of  
Juan María Ruiz.

 Saenz.— Originated by Crístobal Saenz and Micaela Romero, according to 
a daughter’s baptismal record existing in what remains from the book of  registra-
tions at La Purísima, dated May 18, 1785. Godparents were Bernardo Arce and 
Francisca Velazquez, who were qualified as “gente de razón” or Creoles.

Ruiz.— Originated by Juan Maria Ruiz, a man of  arms, who was killed by a 
lion. His wife’s name was Ysabel Carrillo, who has been mentioned before. Perhaps 
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they had many chillren but we know only of  Jose Manuel who married Maria 
Antonia Trasvina and died at La Paz on September 8, 1835 at age eighty. Jose 
Manuel’s daughters were Ysabel and Salvadora. The latter married Sergeant Fran-
cisco Gastelum who succeeded his fater in law as proprietor of  Ensenada Valley. 
Another son of  Juan Maria was Francisco María, for many years Commandant at 
San Diego. He died there in 1839, never having married.

Ortega.— Originated by Jose Francisco de Ortega, an army officer, who 
marched with forces of  Portola in 1769 in the conquest of  Upper California. The 
development process of  the family is not’ found but it is certain that this person 
brought this surname to Lower California. He married the daughter of  Juan 
Carríllo and Efigenia Millar.

Ceseña.— There are few of  the pioneer families (I so call those formed between 
1700 and 1800) with so wide an expansion as this one. Its roots were Juan Ygnacio 
Ceseña and María Antonia Valle, Villa, Ovalle or Orayes. (This surname has been 
written in these four ways). I have not found proof  that Juan Ygnacio Ceseña 
was a soldier but every detail seems to indicate he was. Two of  his descendants 
helped to populate the southern tip; Cipriano, lord of  Cabo San Lucas, married 
Cornelia Castillo (Castillo of  Gastelum) in first nuptials and Juana Ojeda in second 
nuptials; and Juan Jose, lord of  San Jose del Cabo, married Luz Talamantes. Others 
developed families in several places. This is the case of  one of  unknown name who 
left descendants in Loreto and adjacent towns. A daughter of  Juan Ignacio, Susana, 
lived for many years in the northern region and died at Ensenada in 1900 at the age 
of  125 years. This Susana married Guadalupe Melendrez, a native of  San Antonio, 
Southern Lower California.

Murillo (or Morillo).— I have enough foundation to believe that the original 
surname is Morillo. In the Archivo General de la Nation I found a document signed in 
1774 by an Ensign Morillo whose first name I have lost. According to said document 
this personage made the exploration of  El Rosario region in the north before such 
mission was founded. One hundred years ago, or a little less, there were numerous 
individuals who called themselves Morillo, although they were of  the same origin as 
those called Murillo, as anyone may realize after reading the transcriptions published 
in this book; now it is difficult to find any one with Morillo as a family name.

Salgado.— Although, according to data existing in American sources, in the ex-
pedition of  1781 among the colonists transported for the foundation of  Los Angeles 
there was a Juan Maria Romero from Loreto, married to Lugarda Salgado of  the 
same place, I have not been able to establish the exact root of  this family. I can only 
say that between late 18th century and early 19th century, there existed an Ensign 
Estanislao Salgado, married to Maria Camacho. This Ensign is the head of  the well 
known group of  people of  this surname in the town of  Todos Santos and outskirts. 
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He was the great-grandfather of  Refugio, Mercedes and Rosario Salgado. There 
was also a Loreto Salgado living in San Antonio but he was an American who, when 
rebaptized, took, as usual, the surname of  his godfather.

Aviles.— Another of  the old and well spread surnames in Southern Lower 
California is this name, carried to the land by Simon Avi!es, a member of  the army 
who was a sergeant when he retired. He obtained the ranch “El Refugio” in Todos 
Santos municipality as a grant for his services. His descendants assure me that he 
lived about 120 years and I on my parte have found indications that this may be true. 
He died around 1860.

	 Talamante (or Talamantes).— Founder: Juan Bautista Talamantes, a military 
man. He first married Maria Luz Martinez and later Catharina Flores or Moreno. 
He married the latter in 1815 when he had already retired as a sergeant.

	 Aguilar.— Founder: Luis Aguilar who married a Juana Bautista Talamantes 
daughter, Loreto. He received in 1795, from the Spanish government, the property 
of  Mission Guadalupe in Southern Lower California. This family name is found 
in many places in the area of  said extinct mission and also in other regions of  the 
peninsula.

Villavicencio.— Founder: Jose Villavicencio, a member of  the army, whose wife 
was Josefa Arce. This first Villavicencio lived in San Jose del Cabo and its outskirts 
about the last quarter of  the 18th century. One of  his children, Jose Rosas, born 
at Santa Catarina, married Francisca Verduzco from Caduano, a daughter of  Jose 
Maria Verduzco and Josefa Marron. This familiar name is frequently found in the 
municipality of  Mulege, but my opinion is that certain people calling themselves 
Villa at San Jose del Cabo really are Villavicencio.

Marron.— Founders: Guadalupe Marron and Thomasa Arce who had their 
daughter Albara baptized at La Purisima by 1799. From this couple come the 
Marrons living in the south as well as those of  the north, among others Jose Maria 
who settled in Caduano.

But there are other Marrons who stem from a different origin: Jose Maria, (“a 
Moor from Calcutta” the record shows) godson of  the other, from whom he took his 
name. There are no traces of  his descendants.

Another is Francisco Marron, an Egiption, who in 1834 married Juliana 
Fajardo. His family settled in La Playa de San Jose del Cabo. Some of  his children 
were Ramon, Prudencio and Sabas.
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IMPORTANCE OF SANTA ANA IN THE POPULATION OF 
LOWER CALIFORNIA

Little attention has been paid to the study of  the historical importance of  Santa 
Ana in the municipality of  San Antonio. This region’s contribution to the peninsula 
population is really outstanding.

The missional system created by the Jesuits discouraged by its own organization 
the settlement in the land of  people excepting those attached to and subsisting 
under the above mentioned system. Nevertheless, there was someone who dared to 
break such restrictions, making his mind up to establish a working and populated 
center independent of  the religious hierarchy. He who adopted such procedure was 
a soldier of  the Presidio, Manuel de Ozio, before mentioned in this introduction. He 
retired because he made a fortune in pearl fishing and soon after devoted himself  
to the cattle and mining businesses. It was in the area of  Santa Ana, of  which we are 
speaking, that this man began his enterprises.

The remains of  Ozio’s mining plants give us a good idea of  the extension 
of  his business, and also give us the opportunity to consider the great number of  
servants and workers he might have employed; such as cowboys, miners, sailors, 
muleteers, as well as employees in his other activities and trades. We can be sure that 
his personnel would not have consisted of  loss than 300, most of  them whites, the 
rest being Negros and Indians brought from the continental coast of  Mexico. This 
signifies that the population contribution of  Santa Ana balanced and surpassed that 
of  the military centers whiting a lapse of  two decades.

Santa Ana gave origin besides to the beginning of  another mining place, San 
Antonio. The inhabitants of  Santa Ana moved to this town when the spring which 
had provided  their water decreased in volume.

The founder of  Santa Ana, Ozio, was the victim of  a crime. One version is 
that the native Indians assassinated him. Another is that the order to kill him came 
from the depositaries of  his immense fortune in Guadalajara so that they could retain 
the money for themselves. Assuredly, we shall never know the truth on the matter.

Many families settled in Santa Ana, most of  them of  unknown fuonders as is 
the case of  those which bear the: following surnames: Cota, Leon, Duarte, Amador, 
Beltran, Ajuque, Fajardo, Martinez, Gonzalez, Lara, Flores, Moreno, Olachea, 
Barrera, Vil!a, Gerardo, Geraldo, Cadena, Guerrero, Hirales, Ojeda, Orozco, 
Garcia, Orantes, and others, as can be observcd through the San Antonio records 
inserted in’ the proper place in this book. I will present, nevertheless, a few clan 
roots I could clarify.
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Aluarez.— Founders: Honorato Alvarez y Maria del Pilar Miranda. From them 
come most of  fthe persons bearing this surname in Lower California. Honorato 
Alvarez Junior and Francisca Mendoza were the parents of  my great-grandfather 
Ursino Alvarez and he was the father of  my grandmother Francisca Alvarez.

Mendoza.— Founders: Francisco Mendoza and Nicolasa Castro. In a document 
located in the Archivo General de la Nación I found the name of  the man Francisco 
Mendoza who by 1777 was the owner of  the mine El Triunfo, the richest mine until 
then discovered. He was the trunk of  all of  the Mendozas living in the peninsula 
during the 18th and 19th centuries, since rarely is one found from another origin. 
This couple produced several children, among them Alejandro, father of  Francisca, 
my great-great-grandmother.

Estrada.— Founder: Encarnación Estrada. I have found some information 
also about this man in the Archivo General de la Nation. He was an official of  
the Spanish government at Santa Ana by 1780. Unfortuna tely the sequence of  his 
family development can not be found, but there is no doubt that the said Encarnación 
Estrada, is the forebearer of  everyone who bears this surname in the land.

Dominguez.— Founder: Josef  Dominguez, superintendent of  Mission Todos 
Santos, in charge in 1771. From him stem all who bear such surname in the southern 
part of  the peninsula, particularly those living in Todos Santos.

Calderon.— Founder: Venancio Calderon, as is evident from some documents 
summarized in this book.

After all has been said we must observe that a lot of  people left Santa Ana and 
San Antonio to establish themselves in the south, at San Bartolo, along the coast, as 
well as at Santiago, San José del Cabo and Todos Santos.

A study of  the different lineages existing relative to this subject will confirm 
this assertion.

SOME OTHER FAMILIES FROM THE BEGINNING OF 
THE XIX CENTURY

De la Toba.— Founder: Fernando de la Toba who arrived in Monterrey, Upper 
California by sea as a 16 year old cadet directly from Spain. He is one of  the two 
military officers in whose records is found the word “hijodalgo”, meaning he was a 
nobleman. The other so identified was Diego de Borica who was a Knight of  the 
Santiago Cavalry Order. De la Toba married Teresa Verduzco and had numbers of  
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children. When the Spaniards were expelled from Mexico he anxiously asked the 
Mexican Government not to send him back and the authorities accepted his reasons.

Montaño.— Founders: Jose Maria Montaño and Gertrudis Castro. This first 
Montaño was a short, fat Spaniard who came from Tepic, according to his descen-
dants. His wife was a native of  Las Vinoramas in the municipality of  Santiago. Some 
of  their children, among others, were: Susana, married to Ygnacio Carrillo; Jesus, 
married to Cristobal Acevedo; and Nicolas, married in first nuptials to Gertrudis 
Carrillo and Carmen Ferrer in his second nuptials.

Meza.— Founder: Miguel Meza, married Luz Arce. By 1826 he was Mayor at 
Loreto. Through this position he became Península Governor, although temporarily. 
He is the trunk of  the Mezas living in the land, at least those of  the 19th century. He 
established the San Miguel Section in Comondu, which was named after him.

Angulo.— Founders: Juan Jose Angulo y Rosario Lafuente. They settled in San 
Antonio and had many descendants.

Navarro.— Founders: Antonio Navarro and Josefa Castro. This Navarro was 
a native of  Tepic and he had a great quantity of  children in Lower California, as 
one can see through the San Antonio records. At San Antonio, where he had lived 
the greater part of  his life, he was assassinated. There are Navarros of  other origin 
whose founders are not known.

Legaspi.— Founders: Victorino Legaspi and Josefa Fajardo. He was a native of  
the Philippine Islands. Their son Victorino gave his life for Mexico during the French 
invasion. Another son, Manuel, took part in several revolutionary movements which 
occurred in the peninsula, including that headed by general Manuel Marquez de 
Leon, in 1789.

Canseco.— Founders: Miguel Canseco y Loreto Martinez. They had only one 
child, Valero, who in turn had several. Valero married in first nuptials Rafaela Cota; 
in second nuptials, Amelia Cota, sister of  Rafaela. Canseco, as well as Legaspi, was 
born in the Philippine Islands and came to Lower California soon after Mexico 
gained its independence from Spain.

Ruffo.— The first Antonio Ruffo arrived in Lower California in 1829 but he did 
not remain at this time. He went back to Acapulco where his daughter Soledad was 
born. He was a Spaniard, a native of  Cartagena. His wife was Josefa Santa Cruz, a 
native of   Pyura, a northern Peruvian town. Several of  their children were born on 
the peninsula, among them Antonio II. Antonio Ruffo, the founder, died suddenly 
at La Paz in 1849.

Villarino.— An important personage in the history of  Lower California is the 
priest Gabriel Gonzalez. He was a Spaniard, born at Hermosillo, in the province of  
Avila. He came to the peninsula in 1825 and a few years later he sired children 
at Todos Santos. The mother of  his children was Dionisia Villalobos Albanez. At 
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first they used the mother’s name and later he gave them Villarino as their surname. 
His children were: Salvador. Gregorio, Atanasio, Jesus, Pedro, Gabriel, Guadalupe, 
Dolores, Joaquin and Tomasa. It is said that Father Gabriel González is important in 
the provincial history of  Lower California because during the war with the United 
States he, together with other Lower California patriots, prevented the peninsula 
from becoming a dominion of  a foreign power, thus accomplishing a very effective 
action in behalf  of  Mexico. He died at Todos Santos in 1868 when he was 65 years 
old. His parents were Simon Gonzalez and Juana Pereira.

CONTRIBUTION OF NON-SPANISH BLOOD TO THE 
FAMILY COMPOSITION OF LOWER CALIFORNIA

Rare were the cases of  foreigners who established themselves in Lower 
California during the colonial epoch. Nevertheless, we have already seen that three of  
the first European populators were of  non-Spanish blood. When Mexico became 
an independent country some movement of  foreigners into the peninsula was 
started; many of  these definitely remained here. In the Southern tip most of  the 
immigrants were fugitives of  the whale fishing ships who escaped from the terrible 
life they endured aboard such ships. Nowadays the regional inhabitants call them 
pirates which is not correct. Many years ago six young fellows deserted their whaling 
ship. They were of  the following family names: Hastings, Collins, Leggs, McClish, 
Gavarine and Robinson. Present day descendants of  these six foreigners say that 
their predecessors were English students who had been kidnapped and taken aboard 
by force. This may or may not be true. What is certain is that they did arrive in such 
ships and that they entered the land to be free of  the ill treatment they received as 
whalers. Of  these men I presently write. But before doing so I want to mention 
that in those distant days the non-Catholic immigrants had to be re-baptized in 
accord with that rite so that they could become members of  the community, and, 
above all, to be able to marry. We must bear in mind that when baptized foreigners 
generally adopted a Spanish first name and as second name they took that of  their 
godfather, although in most cases they afterwards returned to the use of  their original 
surnames. Let us examine the families formed by the first foreign immigrants in 
Lower California.

Smith.— Founder: James Wilcox Smith. He was not a whaler but an English 
gentleman to all appearances, who brought with him some economic resources. He 
arrived in Loreto by 1817 or 1818. He made great efforts to marry Concepcion 
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Argüello, the Governor’s daughter, but being a very disillusioned young lady because 
of  an earlier romance with the Russian, Rezanof, she turned him down. He married 
Miss Verdugo, whose complete name I have not found. The man was the trunk of  
those who use his surname at Comondu and outskirts.

Sandez.— Founder: Jose Sandez (In my opinion Sand, the English name being 
changed until it acquired its present form). This Jose Sandez established himself  in 
the land between 1818 and 1820. He lived at Santiago, married Guadalupe Castro 
and had numerous progeny.

Pedrin.— (It must be pronounced Pedran). Founders: Juan Pedro Pedrin and 
Loreto Ceseña, Cipriano Ceseña’s daughter. Pedrin, the founder, was a Frenchman 
and had many descendants. One of  the children, Antonio occupied the position of  
peninsular Governor from 1865 to 1867. Other children were: Jose Ygnacio, married 
to Juana Green; Eugenio, married to Jesus Fontes; and other men and women.

There was a Dutchman, an adult, rebaptized at San Jose del Cabo in 1824 
under the name of  Jose Guillermo Pedrin, after his godfather; Juan Pedro Pedrin. 
This Dutchman married Ysabel Ceseña, also Cipriano Ceseña’s daughter. He had 
several children but it is difficult now to know his descendants are, if  there are any. 
What is established is the progeny of  Juan Pedro Pedrin.

Gibert.— Founder: Geronimo Gibert, a Frenchman who married Fernando de 
la Toba’s daughter, Josefa, in 1834 at San Antonio.

Now I will bring up the subject of  the six young men before mentioned who 
luckily landed at San Jose del Cabo and stayed on the peninsula all their lives, some 
of  them living to a very old age.

Fiol.— Founder: Jacinto Fiol whose original name was John Hastings which 
he changed to that of  the priest who rebaptized him. He married, in 1826, Pilar 
Mendoza, daughter of  Alejandro Mendoza and Anastasia Ojeda. He fathered some 
children, among them Jesus and Lino. People who descend from him say that he was 
assassinated because of  trouble with his field-hands.

Collins.— Founder: John Collins who was rebaptized under the name of  Juan 
Bautista Montaño, later changed for Juan Colin. He was born in London on June 24, 
1796, and died at Miraflores on July 3, 1866. He married Loreto Marron.

Maclis.—Founder: John McClish who was rebaptized under the name of  
Juan Aguilar after his godfather. He later took the name of  Juan Maclis, Spanish-
ing the original from English. He married Narcisa Castillo from Santa Ana in 
1825. Their children were: Juan, Santiago, Ysabel and Pilar. Juan Maclis II had 
in turn the small number of  22 children. When the war between Mexico and the 
United States broke out Juan Maclis I supported the American cause and fought 
the Mexicans. When peace was restored he had to migrate to Upper California. 
After arriving in Monterrey, his two young daughters married American soldiers 
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(Some of  their descendants state that they were officers of  the American Army, 
which can be possible). Four or five years later the whole family of  Juan Maclis, 
including the daughters and their husbands, came back to the peninsula to settle 
again in the region of  Miraflores and El Ranchito.

Gavarain.— Founder: Jose Antonio Gavarine who when rebaptized took the 
surname of  Gavarain. It seems he first married María Beltran; a little later became a 
widower and married Maria Ozio. This surname did not spread in the same propor-
tion of  those before mentioned but a good many people use it nowadays.

Leggs.— Founder: John Leggs. I think this man was rebaptized under the 
name of  Guadalupe Marquez and that many years later he again used his original 
English name.

Robinson.— Founder: Peter Robinson. It seems this man took the Spanish name 
of  Pedro Robinson. He always appears with this name in the records. He settled in 
Santiago and married Vicenta Garcia.	 .

Here the account of  the six young Englishmen ends I will continue about other 
foreign elements.

Fisher.— Founder; William Fisher, a North American who in 1829 was re-
baptized under the name of  Jose Guillermo Ceseña after his future father-in-law 
Cipriano Ceseña. He married a daughter of  the latter, Liberata by name. Between 
1843 and 1844 the couple migrated to Upper California. Many years later two of  
their children, the twins Thomas and Cipriano, came back to Lower California 
to stay; the former in the Municipality of  Santiago, the latter in San Jose del Cabo.

Ritchie.— Founder: Thomas Ritchie, an English whaler, who landed at Cabo San 
Lucas in 1830 or 1831. He first married Loreto Higuera and when he became a 
widower he remarried Ynes Villavicencio in 1851.

Green.— Founder: Estevan Green, an English whaler, who landed at Cabo 
San Lucas in 1834. He was rebaptized late that year and early the next married 
Maria de Jesus Ceseña who, in a lapse of  a decade gave him three children: 
Yldefonso Cipriano, Felix and Juana. He migrated to Upper California where he 
died by 1850. His widow married in second nuptials Salvador Castro and had a new 
family. The lineage of  Estevan Green has pread in great proportion.

Corazon.— Founder: John Hearst (or Juan Corazon), an American soldier, who 
married Ysabel, daughter of  Juan Maclis and Narcisa Castillo.

Kennedy.— Founder: Edward Kennedy, an American soldier, who fought in 
Lower California in 1847-48 against the Mexicans. He married Pilar Maclis or 
Aguilar. This man was a assassinated by an error, in 1860 at La Paz, because 
of  the twisted amorous affairs of  his broter-in-law, Santiago Maclis. Pilar, Kennedy’s 
widow died in 1934 at 105 years, a pensioner of the United State Government. 
Some of  their children are registered in this book. A daughter, Ysabel, married 
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Ramon Ceseña from Loreto. Children of  this couple were: Ramon, Emilia, Ysabel, 
Alejandro, Enrique and Eduardo.

I will not proceed with further explanations on families formed by foreigners 
since this aspect of  the population movements appears from now on more clearly 
in the following pages.

NORTHERN LOWER CALIFORNIA FAMILY ROOTS

The population movement in the present state of  Northern Lower 
California is characterized by circumstances identical with the aspects reviewed so 
far; that is, of  white people, creooles and mestizos who originated in Southern Lower 
California and their related phenomena and precesses. There was the same parallel 
development between whites and Indian, with only one difference: that after 100 
years of  colonization, in the northern region there remained a certain quantity 
of  autochthonous people who today still survive in small groups. The surnames of  
soldiers entered this territory about the middle of  the 18th century at a slower pace 
than in the south and the white population expanded here in lesser proportions.

No parochial archives prior to those of  the government of  Registro Civil 
exist, so I do not have the opportunity to give details on the organization: of  the 
first families as I did in the south. But through official papers, which register data 
from 1861, it is apparent that the predominant surnames a century age in the said 
region were the following, a greater part of  them already cited in the south: Morillo 
or MurilIo, Orantes, Arce, Manriquez, Duarte, Marron, Carrillo, Acevedo, Lopez, 
Melendrez, Alvarez, Ortega, Aguilar, Amador, Legaspi, Romero and others. There 
are some of  different origin as: Pellejeros, Montes, Yorba, Machado, Granado, 
Ortiz, Federico, Esparza, Montenegro, Laya, Pompa, and others.

	 In the same period a certain number of  non-Spanish family names can be 
found, among them the following: Gilbert, Warner, Hyde, Bragg, Lebran, Scott, Butiyer, 
Blanchar, Ruhotton, Lebrung, Monarca, Upton. Soule, Pierrot, Barbieri, Flowers, 
Martorell, McAller, Campbell, Bonen, Martin, Eaton, Crosthwaite, and a few others.

It must be remarked that before 1848 people who came to settle in northern 
Lower California came from the south of  the peninsula. But after that year a number 
of  immigrants began to cross the new international line; also came Mexicam from 
several other Mexican states primarly Sonora. This influx increased when Real del 
Castillo’s auriferous mining camps were opened in 1871. The migratory contingents 
of  this epoch were composed again of  Mexicans and foreigners. There was a new 
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migratory movement when the works of  colonization formally commenced in 1886 
under American and English enterprises. And though this movement was not strong 
enough to solve the problem of  completely populating the land, some progress was 
made. The Mexican elements were primarily from the Southern Territory and the 
foreigners were principally Americans.

Since in the following pages of  this work everything is expressed with necessary 
clarity, I shall not proceed with individual data in this introduction. I shall ask the 
reader to review the material that follows, from which he can obtain the information 
he may be interested in.

NOTICE:

1)	Near 12 000 accounts of  baptism, nuptials and defunction record are 
inserted in this book.

2)	Names of  persons are copied in the way they are written in the original 
documents, although they are incorrect.

3)	Data about illegitimate children have not been collected but there are 
records related to legal children in which no indication of  it is found. I do not think I 
am authorized to make any change on the form the archives present the material, so 
I let such records stand as they are in the books of  registration.

4)	Some records have more data than others. They are reproduced as they 
were found in their source.

5)	Wherever a datum is missing it must be understood that it was not found 
in the original source or that the document was illegible as in the intervals in dates: 
days, month and years.

6)	Ages attributed to persons are only reliable when referring to births; those 
registered in marriage or defunctions are not always exact.

7)	 In the alphabetical index are registered only those born or who died, 
without giving names of  their godparents, parents or witnesses. In relation to  
marriages only the husband’s name is inscribed.

8)	Everything in parenthesis is an addition or explanation by the author.
9)	No one should feel disregarded if  he can not find his predecessors in this 

book, the reason being that those records were not found in the archives or frag-
ments of  existing archives.

10)	When the place is not mentioned in a record, see the top of  the page.

The Author.
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